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82 Washington Square East 
Salem 

According to available evidence, this house was built for Capt. Francis 
Boardman, privateer and shipmaster, in 1783. 

In September, 1782, Francis Boardman, 36, purchased the land on which his house 
would be built in the following year. The house was not completely finished right 
away, but remained a work in progress for the next several years; nevertheless, it 
would appear that Capt. Boardman and family occupied it by 1783 (note: in the 1785 
list of households belonging to the East Church, Rev. William Bentley recorded that 
the Francis Boardmans resided "on the common" (Bentley, I:8). 

Francis Boardman (1746-1792) was baptized 8 March 1746, the son of John 
Boardman 3rd and Mary Baker of Ipswich. His father may have been the Lt. John 
Boardman who, on a winter voyage, was, on 10 March 1755, "cast on shore at 
Castle Hill and perished with snow and cold." Francis had siblings Mary, Lucy, 
John, and Ebenezer; and his mother may have married, second, John Potter, an 
Ipswich yeoman. 

As a lad, Francis was, evidently, bound out to learn the trade of a mariner. He may 
have sailed as a cabin-boy and later as a teenaged deck-hand; and he worked his way 
up to able-bodied seaman, perhaps sailing as a mate by the time he was twenty. The 
outline of his subsequent career may be traced in the logbooks he kept, on file at the 
Peabody Essex Museum. 

In 1767, Francis Boardman, 21, made a voyage from Jamaica to London on the ship 
Vaughan, Capt. Benjamin Davis, on which Francis kept the log (as he would on 
most or all of his subsequent voyages). Ralph D. Paine, in his The Ships and Sailors 
of Old Salem (1909, pp. 35-38), writes that Francis Boardman was "a seaman, who 
rose to a considerable position as a Salem merchant," and mentions that Boardman, 
in 1767, was mate of the Vaughan and in its log-book left the beginning of a letter: 
"Dear Polly, These lines comes with my love to you, hoping this will find you in as 
good health as they leave me at this time, blessed be God for so great a mercy." 
Francis was a great one for practicing his letter writing. The Vaughan voyaged to 
London, where young Francis had a chance to see the capital of the British empire; 
and then she proceeded to Cadiz, Spain. He recorded some popular poems and 
ballads in the log. 
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In 1768 and 1769, Francis made two voyages from Ipswich on board the schooner 
Nabby, Capt. Abraham Dodge, to the West Indies (Caribbean). Abraham Dodge, an 
Ipswich mariner, would later fight as an officer in the Revolution, and work as a 
merchant; and his daughter Abigail Dodge (perhaps the "Nabby"-nickname for 
Abigail-for whom the vessel was named) would play an important part in the later 
life of the Boardman family and this house. From July to October, 1769, Francis 
was on a voyage from Ipswich to the West Indies and back on board the sloop 
Elizabeth, Capt. Thomas Dodge. From June to December, 1770, he made another 
such voyage, on board the schooner Hopewell, Capt. James Staniford. After that, it 
would appear that Francis Boardman moved to Salem. 

In 1772 he made a voyage on the schooner Lively, Capt. Holten Johnson, from Lynn 
to the Caribbean and back. This was followed by his first known voyage out of 
Salem: in April, 1772, he sailed on the schooner Dolphin, Capt. Thomas Bowditch, 
on a round trip to Charleston, South Carolina. In October, 1772, he sailed in the 
schooner Salem, Capt. Henry Williams, to the West Indies, and continued voyages 
thereon through September, 1773. 

Salem's only reliable export was salt cod, whieh was caught far offshore, mainly by 
Marbleheaders, and then "cured" until it was hard and dry and could be shipped long 
distances. This was a staple food in Catholic Europe (Spain and Portugal especially) 
and also in the Caribbean, where it was fed to slaves. To Europe went the 
"merchantable" cod (high-grade), and to the Caribbean went the "refuse" cod (low 
quality). Either sort, put into a pot of boiling water, would tum into nutritious food. 
Lumber, horses, and foodstuffs were also sent to the Caribbean, whence came sugar, 
molasses, cotton, and mahogany. From Europe came back finished goods, wine, 
fruit, feathers, and leather. There was also some trade between Salem and the 
Chesapeake Bay area, which provided com, wheat, and tobacco, while South 
Carolina provided rice. 

Most merchant vessels were small, under 60 tons. Timothy Orne had been the 
leading merchant of the 1730s and 1740s, followed by his protege, Richard Derby 
(1712-1783). Up until the time of the Revolution (1775), Salem's trade was 
prosperous but modest. The salt water came in along Derby and New Derby Streets 
all the way to the present Post Office building; and in this secure inner harbor were 
most of the wharves and warehouses. 

In the 1760s, after Canada was taken from the French by the British, relations 
between the colonials and the British authorities cooled. The English had spent 
down their reserves in support of the war, and decided to squeeze tax revenues out of 
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the colonists' trade, which met with resentment. Although they had been under 
royal governors for two generations, the Americans had been allowed to govern 
themselves completely at the local level by town meetings, and, at the provincial 
level, through a legislature and Governor's council. Over time, they had come to 
regard themselves as a free people, and not as dependents of a far-away mother 
country. The British authorities were surprised at the Americans' resistance to their 
policies, and feared an insurrection. In 1768, they sent over a small army of 
occupation and installed it in Boston. This was a big mistake, for now the 
Americans were forced to see themselves as misbehaving colonials, and to realize 
that they were not free. They did not like this picture, and the result was greater 
tension and frequent street violence in Boston. The Boston Massacre took place in 
March, 1770; in short order, all of Massachusetts turned openly against the British, 
and the clouds of war gathered on the horizon. 

In fall, 1773, Francis Boardman, 27, was given command of the sloop Adventure, 
and sailed, November, 1773, to April, 1774, round trip to the West Indies from 
Boston. On this first voyage as master, Capt. Boardman found that his mate, 
William Robson, was a drunkard and an annoyance (per R.D. Paine, Ships & 
Sailors ... ). He put in at Martinique and at Guadalupe, and returned safely. From 
May, 1774, until January, 1776, Capt. Boardman made four voyages in the 
Adventure from Boston to the West Indies, including at least two voyages in which 
he ran the British blockade, set up in 1775 when the revolution began. During one 
of these voyages, evidently, he encountered a young English boy, Thomas Williams 
( 17 69-1807), and brought him back to Salem, where Thomas eventually grew to 
become a shipmaster himself (see Bentley's Death Registry, p.100). 

Pre-revolutionary Salem had more than its share of Tories; but the Sons of Liberty 
were in the majority. Wealthy scions of old Salem families like the Curwens, 
Pickmans, and Brownes, chose to remain loyal to the King, as did many others who 
had married into the merchant families. In 177 4 one of the most outspoken Salem 
Tories was Peter Frye, a prominent merchant and magistrate whose wife was a 
Pickman. One night in October, Judge Frye learned just how much he was detested 
by the rebel faction: his fine house on Essex Street was burned down (the fire 
spread, and other houses burned as well). 

By January, 1775, the Loyalist-leaning officers had been purged from the Salem 
militia regiment, which was being led by the rebel Col. Timothy Pickering, 29, who 
had published a book on military drill. One Sunday in February, 1775, the 
Revolutionary War almost began in Salem. When everyone was in church, Col. 
Leslie's redcoats marched overland from Marblehead and arrived in downtown 
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Salem, hoping to seize munitions in North Salem. They came to a sudden halt at the 
North Bridge, whose draw was up; and soon they were surrounded by the Salem 
regiment. Negotiations followed, and agreement was reached: the draw went down, 
Leslie's men advanced a short distance into North Salem, faced about, and marched 
back through Salem's South Fields and Marblehead, whose own regiment, led by 
Col. Jeremiah Lee, could have slaughtered them. Instead, the Marbleheaders fell in 
behind them, marching in mockery of Leslie's Retreat as the British made their way 
back to Fort Beach and boarded their whaleboats to return to the transport vessel. 

With the battle at Lexington & Concord, April 19th, 1775, the die was cast. Of 
course no one knew how the war would end, and there was little to indicate that the 
colonials could actually defeat the King's army and navy, but virtually every able­
bodied Salem man and boy gave himself over to the cause. Salem's regiment 
participated in the siege of Boston, as George Washington took command of the 
army in Cambridge. The British left Boston in March, 1776, never to return. 
Washington's army was pushed southward from Long Island in a series of defeats, 
during which Salem's Col. Timothy Pickering became one of the General's most 
trusted officers, and Quartermaster General of the army. Washington's first victory 
was the Battle of Trenton, on Christmas Day, 1776. Eventually most of the Salem 
men came home and sailed in privateers for the duration of the war, which continued 
at sea until 1783. 

Seagoing trade was all but suspended after the commencement of the war (which 
would run from 1775 to 1783), but Capt. Boardman's prospects were good, and in 
1775 or 1776 he married Mary Hodges, 23, the eldest daughter of Capt. John 
Hodges (1724-1799), a prominent Salem merchant and former shipmaster. Mary's 
older brother, Capt. John Hodges Jr., 21, had drowned at sea in 1771, and her 
mother, Mary (Manning) Hodges, 48, the daughter of Capt. Benjamin Manning, had 
died in September, 1773. Mary's sisters Sarah and Hannah had died as little girls in 
the 1750s, and her brothers George and Jacob had died in infancy in the 1760s. Her 
remaining siblings in 1775 were Benjamin (b. 1754), Joseph (1759-1778, 7 Aug.), 
Richard (b. 1762-1787 died on voyage), George 2d (b.1765), and Gamaliel (1766). 
All of them were unusually tall; and all became shipmasters, and, if they survived, 
merchants. It would seem that Richard and George Hodges later resided in this 
house, with their wives, who died young. 

Francis had been able to make successful trading voyages in the Adventure, and he 
decided to try again in the 64-ton schooner Benjamin. In the summer of 1776 he 
and five crewmen made a voyage to Hispaniola with a cargo of boards, staves, 
hoops, and shingles, along with private cargo of the Captain and others. Also on 
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board was Capt. Duthie, a Scotsman whose English vessel had been captured by a 
Salem privateer and whom Capt. Boardman had befriended and agreed to take to the 
West Indies so that Duthie could book passage thence back to England. Instead, on 
Sept. 15t\ off the Island of Tortuga, Duthie, a boy, and an old man took Capt. 
Boardman and three men prisoner, and at sunrise put them in an open boat to fend 
for themselves. After a harrowing day and night, Capt. Boardman's boat was picked 
up by an American schooner, which was captured next day by a British warship (see 
pp.175-176, Captains of Privateers by J. Macminamin, 1985) 

Eventually Capt. Boardman made his way home to Salem, where he sought 
command of privateers, but had to settle for junior positions at first. In 1777 he was 
2d Lieutenant on board the privateer Sturdy Beggar, which was captured. He was 
sent as a prisoner to Halifax, and was exchanged for an Englishman at the end of the 
year (MSSRW II:223). In 1778 he accepted a job as First Lieutenant on board 
William Pickman's privateer ship Black Prince, Capt. Elias Smith (MSSRW 
II:223). 

On 28 June 1779, Francis Boardman was commissioned master of the privateer 
brigantine Fortune, of 8 guns and 18 men. She was owned by Capt. Boardman, 
Miles Greenwood of Salem, and John Dyson of Beverly (p. 133, Mass. Privateers of 
the Revolution, Mass. Historical Society Colls. Vol. 77) 

In 1780, Capt. Boardman joined the Salem Marine Society; and in April, 1780, he 
was an owner, with Mr. Brooks, of the privateer brigantine Fortune, Capt. Jesse 
Pearson (p. 128, Captains of Privateers by J. Macminamin, 1985). 

On 15 Dec. 1780 Capt. Boardman was commissioned master of Bartholomew 
Putnam's Salem privateer ship Thomas, IO guns, 20 men (p. 298, MPR). At that 
time, he was described as being 33, 5' 7" tall, with a dark complexion. In 
November, 1781, he was again commissioned master of the privateer Thomas, then 
owned by Benjamin Hammett (MSSRW ibid). 

Presumably Capt. Boardman was successful in these years, and made prizes of 
several British merchant ships, both while in command and through the vessels he 
co-owned. For each ship captured, he received a percentage of the value of the 
vessel and its cargo. Some men in Salem made new fortunes through privateering; 
others lost everything, including their lives. 

On 12 September 1782 Francis Boardman, Salem mariner, for 230 Ii purchased from 
his father-in-law, John Hodges, Salem merchant, a piece of land fronting westerly 
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107' 8" on the Training Field (ED 137:99). The lot also bounded northerly on land 
of Joseph Hodges 151' 10", easterly 98' 8" on the grantor, southerly 186' 8" partly 
on land of Samuel Webb deceased and partly on land of Nathaniel Richardson; and 
John Hodges reserved a strip of land, 14' wide, on the north side of the lot, "liable to 
be opened as a highway." On this lot, Capt. Boardman commenced to build a fine 
house as his family residence. He and his wife Mary then had two children; and they 
would have three more. 

Francis Boardman (1746-1792), bp 8 March 1746, son of John Boardman & Mary 
Baker of Ipswich, died at Port au Prince, Haiti, 10 Feb. 1792. Hem. Mary Hodges 
(1752-1828), d/o John Hodges & Mary Manning of Salem, died 16 June 1828. 
Known issue: 

1. Mary, 13 May 1778, m. 1 Jan. 1804 Benjamin W. Crowninshield (1773-
1851); d. 5 Oct. 1840. 

2. Elizabeth, March, 1779, m. 25 March 1798 Nathaniel Bowditch; d. 18 Oct. 
1 798 of scrofula. 

3. Francis, 13 March 1785, died 18 . 
4. John, 1786, died 1791, of consumption. 
5. Sarah, 7 Oct. 1787, m. 27 Nov. 1810 Zachariah Fowle Silsbee. 

Regarding the construction of the house, Capt. Boardman kept an account of "bills 
paid for building a house." While most of the account is undated, it would seem, 
from the sequence of entries, that the cellar was dug (by Lindsey) and the frame 
raised by November, 1782. The rooms were wall-papered. Benjamin Ward made 
the window frames and sashes. Various blacksmiths supplied the hinges and other 
hardware. Samuel Blythe was a painter, as was William Luscomb. Mr. Hovey did 
the lathing and plastering, and Ebenezer Burrill, Ezra Johnson, and John Ward were 
carpenters. Mr. Chipman boxed the pillars for the portico. Joseph Mcintire and 
brother (perhaps Samuel) did a lot of the finish carpentry. William King turned the 
columns and "banisters." 

Captain Boardman's last known privateer command was the brigantine Hind, of 8 
guns and 16 men, commissioned 18 November 1782 (MPR p.178). 

The war ended early in 1783. Capt. Boardman could resume his trading, and in 
April-July 1783 he completed a voyage from Salem to the West Indies and back to 
Philadelphia in the schooner Salem. At the end of 1 783 he assumed command of the 
brigantine Hind (perhaps the same that he had commanded as a privateer), and made 
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eight voyages from Salem to the West Indies during the period January, 1784, to 
December, 1786. On the first of those voyages he went aground at Cape Cod, with 
little damage (see Bentley, 19 May 1784). These voyages were followed by similar 
trips, made between March, 1787, and April, 1788 (when he returned from St. 
Croix), in command of the brigantine Eliza (perhaps named for his daughter). 

In some places, the post-war loss of the former colonial connections and trade routes 
was devastating, for the British would not allow Americans to trade with their 
possessions; but in Salem, the merchants were ready to push their ships and cargoes 
into all parts of the known world. Hasket Derby, William Gray, Eben Beckford, and 
Joseph Peabody led the effort to open new markets. In 1 784, Derby began trade 
with Saint Petersburg, Russia; and in 1784 and 1785 he dispatched trading vessels to 
Africa and China, respectively. Voyages to India soon followed, and (sent by 
Beckford, of 14 Lynde Street) to the Spice Islands and Pepper Islands (Sumatra, 
Java, Malaya, etc.). These new markets-and the coffee trade would be opened in 
1 798 with Mocha, Arabia--brought great riches to the merchants, and began to raise 
the level of wealth throughout the town: new ships were bought and built, more 
crews were formed with more shipmasters, new shops and stores opened, new 
partnerships were formed, and new people moved to town. 

In May, 1788, Capt. Boardman, mariner, bought for 72.10.0 from his father-in-law, 
merchant John Hodges, a second piece of land, containing two acres, adjoining the 
first and running easterly to Collins Cove (ED 148: 194 ). This lot was bounded 
westerly on Capt. Boardman's land and on the 14' strip that had been reserved as a 
highway, southerly on land of the heirs of John Ives, easterly on a creek and 
extending to the banks and flats on salt water, and northerly on land of Gamaliel 
Hodges. Capt. Boardman built a new barn in 1788 and sold his old barn to 
Benjamin Ward, who moved it to a spot on the Common (see WB 2 Oct. 1789). 

Obviously, the Boardman house was built on a grand scale, and was designed for 
entertaining. Both Captain and Mrs. Boardman were ambitious and high-spirited. 
On 19 February 1789 the Boardmans hosted a dance party at their home, which was 
very well attended and was the social event of the season. It seems that no one had 
ever held such a dance at home before (see Bentley). Next month, another dance 
was held "in the chamber of Capt. Boardman's elegant house," with fewer dancers 
attending (Bentley, 17 March 1789). 

In July, 1789, Capt. Boardman filled in a small pond on the common in front of his 
house. This prefigured the later (1802) effort to transform the common into an 
urban park from a hilly, swampy place, with five ponds and various town buildings 
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thereon. The common was used as the military training field of the town, and as the 
site of fairs and celebrations. As Benjamin F. Browne remembered it, "Previous to 
1802, the Common was unenclosed, and horses, cattle, ducks, geese, hens, and stray 
pigs, had free range. There were five small ponds, very shallow and muddy, two 
others having been previously filled up. There were several hillocks, and the 
southeast comer was always inundated after heavy rain, and, after the subsidence of 
much of the water, a considerable pond remained, which was called Flag Pond" (BF 
Browne, 1869, EIHC 51:299) 

"The Common on a general training day or other public gala day presented a very 
animated scene. Refreshment tents were planted on each side of Newbury Street 
(Washington Square West), both sides of Bath Street (Wash. Sq. South), and on the 
south side of Brown Street (Wash. Sq. North), in which were for sale various kinds 
of spirituous liquors and various kinds of food and confectionary. In some, fiddles 
and other musical instruments were being played to attract customers, to the music 
of which men and boys would be dancing without. Of more humble character would 
be the tables and stands of oysters and other commodities, to which customers were 
called by loud outcries. Gambling tables, dice boards, and roulette and wheel-of­
fortune tables, not sparsely varied the scene. Here might be seen boys and men 
throwing props, pitching coppers, and gambling in various ways. Fights were not 
infrequent, and attracted large crowds, to whom a cracked pate or a bloody nose 
seemed to give great satisfaction. Spirituous liquors were served freely to the man 
or boy who could pay for them ... " (BF Browne, EIHC 51:301 ). 

At the end of October, 1789, George Washington made a visit to Salem, and the 
whole town buzzed with preparations. The Salem people wished for Washington to 
stay the night at the house of Capt. Boardman overlooking the Common, but he had 
already decided to stay at Joshua Ward's house on what is now Washington Street. 
Understanding that he had disappointed those who had offered Capt. Boardman's 
house, Washington made a point of taking a route, as he departed the next day, that 
took him right past the Boardman house on his way to Bridge Street and the Essex 
Bridge to Beverly (see Bentley's Diary, 1 Nov. 1789). 

After Washington's visit, on 3 Nov. 1789 Capt. Boardman sailed for Virginia in the 
new ship, Maria & Eliza, belonging to himself and Capt. Nathaniel West (per 
Bentley). By 10 June 1790 Messrs. Boardman and West had sold this vessel to a 
Folger ofNantucket (Bentley, 10 June 1790). 

Capt. Boardman put back out to sea, and on the last day of 1790 arrived in Boston 
just ahead of a violent blizzard (Bentley, 1Jan.1791). After some time ashore, he 
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made a new voyage, during which, in May, 1791, his son John, "a fine child," died 
in Salem of consumption, aged five years (Bentley, 22 May 1791; see also his Death 
Registry, p.14). 

In August, 1 791, Rev. William Bentley noted activity around the Boardman 
property, as Capt. Boardman improved the road there, and then had his house 
painted (16 Aug. 1791 "Boardman's pavement laid from his bounds towards Ives 
Lane and the ditch dug below the cross bridge in that road;" 22 Aug. 1 791 
"Boardman painting his elegant house"). 

In 1792 Salem's first bank, the Essex Bank, was founded. From a population of 
7921 in 1790, the town would grow by 1500 persons in a decade. At the same time, 
thanks to the economic policies of Alexander Hamilton, Salem vessels were able to 
transport foreign cargoes tax-free and essentially to serve as the neutral carrying 
fleet for both Britain and France, which were at war with each other. The size and 
number of vessels was increased, and Salem was the greatest worldwide trading port 
in America. 

Francis Boardman must have been making plans to retire from the sea and take up 
life ashore as a merchant. He had the capital to do it, and the connections to form 
good business partnerships, with his brother-in-law or with Capt. West, who was a 
son-in-law of the greatest of Salem merchants, Hasket Derby. Few shipmasters 
remained on the quarterdeck into their 40s, as Capt. Boardman had. Clearly, he 
loved the life of a sea-rover; but it was time to think about putting behind him the 
perils of the mariner's life, and starting a new phase as a merchant trader. 

By the beginning of 1792 Capt. Boardman was ready for a new voyage to the West 
Indies, in command of his own fine schooner, the 96-ton Rambler. Arriving at Port 
au Prince, "Hispaniola" (Haiti), he looked for a return cargo. Instead he found the 
city in the grip of disease, fer haps malaria. He fell ill, as did George Dean, perhaps 
his mate. On February lOt, Francis Boardman died at the age of 45; and on Feb. 
14th George Dean, 22, followed him into the grave (see Bentley Death Registry). 

Capt. Francis Boardman left four children and his wife, Mary Hodges Boardman. 
His had been a long and varied career at sea, from his days as a letter-writing mate 
on board the Vaughan, through his years in British prisons and in privateering, to his 
most recent voyage as an owner. He never had become a merchant, but made his 
impressive fortune as a seafaring man and privateer who held onto his money. 
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Of him, his minister, Rev. William Bentley, wrote, he was "a man of great ambition, 
fond of show, and of great public spirit. He built an elegant house, which for 
situation is the best in town. He had just completed a good road to it, finished the 
outbuildings, filled a pond before it, when he was snatched out of life, universally 
lamented." The effect of his sudden loss on his wife and children can only be 
imagined. Mary Hodges Boardman, 39, now had four small children to look after. 
Fortunately, she had a large family of brothers to look after her, and two of them, 
Richard and George, evidently resided here with her. 

In July, 1792, an inventory of Capt. Boardman's estate was taken by a committee 
comprised of Benjamin Ward, Joseph White, and Joseph Vincent. In it, the 
homestead of Francis Boardman, Salem mariner ("mansion house, warehouse, and 
out houses with the land under & adjoining") was valued in pounds sterling at 
1066.13.4. He also held a 130 li promissory note against John Baker (probably of 
Ipswich, a relative). He also owned two pews in the East Meeting House, and five 
shares in the Essex Bridge (250 li), in addition to the 96-ton schooner Rambler (with 
boat & appurtenances), valued at 63 5 li. At the time of death, he owned a cargo of 
molasses worth 2089.10.l and a cargo of sugar worth 402.18.9, as well as three old 
sails and a barrel of coffee. The rest of his property consisted of house furnishings 
and implements (see inventory appended to this report). 

In the summer of 1 792, Mrs. Boardman and her children went to Brookline to be 
inoculated against smallpox by Dr. Aspinwall (Bentley, I:407). 

In April, 1793, the Captain's widow, Mary Hodges Boardman, filed an account of 
administration with the Probate Court. It would appear that some of the estate's 
debts were incurred after Capt. Boardman's death, but that he owed on two notes to 
John Hodges (190 li) and one note to Sarah Hodges (96.16.6), among other 
accounts. He also owed schoolmaster Nathaniel Rogers 53.13.2, probably for 
instruction of his children. The estate was very valuable and quite solvent: he left 
his heirs more than 2700 li clear of debts, in addition to the real estate. 

Mrs. Mary Hodges Boardman had the means to raise her children in comfort. In the 
1790s, she rented out part of the house to her neighbor, Joseph Vincent Jr., a notable 
rope-maker. She had many friends, and was close to her minister, Rev. William 
Bentley. In 1797 her daughter Elizabeth, 18, was courted by Nathaniel Bowditch, a 
young man who had been working in a ship chandlery and who now was sailing as a 
supercargo on merchant voyages. Bowditch, a brilliant mathematician, was 
something of a protege of Mr. Bentley, who probably encouraged the match. In 
March, 1798, Elizabeth Boardman married Nathaniel Bowditch; and the couple 
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evidently resided here in a newlyweds' suite. In August, 1798, Nathaniel bade his 
bride adieu and set out on a voyage round the world. 

The Federal Direct Tax record indicates that at a certain point in 1798 the heads of 
household here were Mary Boardman and Joseph Vincent. Living with Mrs. 
Boardman, no doubt, were her three unmarried children, and perhaps her married 
daughter Elizabeth Bowditch. 

After beginning a voyage in August, Nathaniel Bowditch never again saw his young 
wife Elizabeth, who died of "scrofula" on the 18th of October, 1798, aged 19 years, 7 
months (seep. 45, Bentley's Death Register). "Elizabeth Bowditch, daughter of of 
the late Capt. F. Boardman, was buried this evening-the third young wife from the 
house of Capt. B. whose funeral I have attended. The others were the wives of 
Richard & George Hodges." (W. Bentley, 21 Oct. 1798). 

Nathaniel Bowditch returned to Salem in April, 1799, having already learned of the 
death of his wife. After his return, he evidently boarded in a house with Capt. 
Prince, under whom he had sailed (see EIHC, Harold Bowditch, The Buildings 
Associated with Nathaniel Bowditch). In 1800, at the time of the taking of the 
federal census, this house was occupied, evidently, by three heads of household: 
Joseph Vincent (Jr.) and family, Mrs. Mary Boardman and family (including only 
one male, her son Francis), and Mrs. Abigail Dodge Rogers and her family, 
including several young ladies who boarded with her (see 1800 census of Salem, in 
which Mrs. Boardman is called "Bowman" instead of Boardman, and Mrs. Rogers is 
called "Mary" instead of Abigail). At the same time, Nathaniel Bowditch was 
residing as a boarder on Central Street (then called Market Street). B.F. Browne 
thought that he remembered Bowditch having resided here after his second marriage, 
to his Mary Ingersoll, on 28 October 1800; but seems more likely thaf the 
Bowditches lived elsewhere, since the house was already a three-family residence 
and school with several additional boarders residing there, and since it would 
certainly have been odd for Bowditch to have taken up residence with a second wife 
(however closely allied by friendship or kinship) in the home where he had lived 
with his first wife, whose family home it had been. 

Joseph Vincent Jr., who resided here with his wife and children, was the son of 
Joseph Vincent, a prominent ropemaker and social-political leader who had come 
from Kittery, Maine, before the Revolution. Per B. F. Browne, the elder Joseph 
Vincent (EIHC 49:291) "was a marked man in my day, for his generous hospitality, 
his perfect uprightness of character, his unostentatious charities, his real intelligence, 
and for the frank expression of his opinions. His son, Joseph, succeeded him in 
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business in the same walk, and he possessed many of the characteristics of his father. 
He likewise attained to a long life, dying over 90 years of age." A ropewalk was a 
long, low building in which workers spun strands into rope. Several ropewalks ran 
from the common toward Collins Cove, extending over the low swampy land on 
pilings. 

The third family residing here was that of Mrs. Abigail Dodge Rogers, who was the 
daughter of Capt. Abraham Dodge, with whom the young Francis Boardman had 
once sailed on voyages to the West Indies. It is likely that Capt. Boardmn had 
remained close to the Dodge family; and he may have been responsible for Mrs. 
Rogers' coming to Salem in the first place. 

Nathaniel & Abigail Rogers had come to Salem in the 1780s from Ipswich, Mass. 
Nathaniel Rogers, born in 1762, the last of 11 children, of whom just five survived 
to adulthood, was the son of Rev: Nathaniel Rogers and grandson of Pres. Leverett 
of Harvard College, and was very well-educated: he had been trained up in the 
classics, and had an excellent knowledge of Hebrew as well as the standard Latin 
and Greek. He had gone on to Harvard during the Revolutionary war, and, after 
graduation in 1782, had returned to Ipswich to engage in trade as a merchant. 

Living in Ipswich was Abigail Dodge, a girl who was able to converse with Harvard 
graduates in the dead languages, for she too had received a classical education--a 
thing extraordinary for the time and place, but not extraordinary in the mind of her 
sponsor and father, Col. Abraham Dodge. Abigail had learned well; and, prevented 
by the mores of the time from going to a college that had never yet accepted a 
female, she had contented herself with teaching in Ipswich. When she was courted 
by Nathaniel Rogers, her friends did not think him suitable-there was something 
about him that they did not like. When Abigail persisted in seeing him, her friends 
shunned her; and defiantly she married him, just as her father was losing the last of 
his once-large fortune, and then his life, in 1786, aged just 46 years. 

Young Nathaniel and Abigail Rogers, with little to hold them in Ipswich, joined the 
group of local people who had placed themselves under the care of Rev. Manasseh 
Cutler, LL.D., and in 1788 journeyed westward to found the town of Marietta, Ohio. 
Then the Rogerses turned around, and came back to Essex County. This time, after 
some experimenting, the couple settled in Salem, where Mr. Rogers opened a private 
school. He and Mrs. Rogers had five children, all boys. 

In 1793, Mr. Rogers~ accepted the preceptorship of the Salem Grammar School. 
For four years he served as the town's public schoolmaster, although he proved to be 

12 



less than ideal, and was highly eccentric. His wife, Abigail, opened a private school 
for girls, with good success. That school may have been conducted at the Boardman 
house until the spring of 1795, when Mrs. Rogers was persuaded by her husband to 
open a shop. The shop did not prosper, and in the spring of 1796 Mrs. Rogers re­
opened her academy. Bentley noted, "Mrs. Rogers opened again her school for 
young misses. Her success in the public opinion was so great that with difficulty she 
could close the school last spring, pleading her health, but rather inclining to follow 
her husband's inclination in a shop. The experiment for various causes has not 
succeeded and this day we saw the little flocks going up. Mrs. Rogers has advanced 
her price upon the kind opinion." (Bentley, 1March1796) 

Nathaniel Rogers did not mend his ways, and finally the school committee 
demanded his resignation. In 1797, replaced by a Mr. Kendall, he opened a new 
private academy, which met with mixed success. Fortunately, his wife's school 
continued highly popular, especially among the families of the East Parish. 

To compound the frustrations of his professional life, Nathaniel Rogers fell very ill. 
He did not get better, despite his being a man of just 37 years; and in the summer of 
1 799 he died at Biddeford, Maine, leaving his widow Abigail and his four young 
sons, Nathaniel L., John W., Richard S., and William A. He had accumulated little 
property in his life: his estate was valued at $87.70. 

Mrs. Abigail Dodge Rogers may well have been inclined to return to Ipswich with 
her children, and throw herself upon the support of her family and home town. 
Instead, she found that she had friends and admirers in Salem. She was invited to 
come live with Mrs. Mary Hodges Boardman. Into her mansion, Abigail Rogers 
moved her children and her few possessions, and continued to run her school, 
offering the wealthier families of the town a chance for their daughters to get the 
same sort of rigorous education that she herself had received. She was confirmed in 
that belief, and she more than justified her patrons' confidence. 

Over the years, Mrs. Rogers created an exclusive institution that was deeply admired 
in her adopted town, and she herself became a forceful presence among its leading 
families, whose daughters soon came to see her as a role model and mother figure as 
well as a teacher. Eventually, she seems to have become an arbiter of behavior, 
taste, and culture in Salem; and she raised her sons to be young gentlemen worthy of 
such a mother, and, eventually, worthy of the young ladies over whom she had such 
influence. To her and her boys, the doors of the elite were opened, and she walked 
through each of them, regally. Nathaniel, John, Richard, and William (a Harvard 
man) were, in their turns, placed in the counting houses and merchant vessels of the 

13 



town's greatest merchants, and mastered the intricacies of international trade and 
navigation to a degree that guaranteed them each a place in the town's upper stratum 
of commerce. One by one, the young Rogers men married into the wealthiest 
families, and formed business alliances with their brothers-in-law and others, and 
made large amounts of money, and finally founded their own merchant house of 
Rogers Brothers. 

B .F. Browne recalled her as follows. "In this house Mrs. Abigail Rogers kept, in my 
boyhood, a school for young misses, and a famous one it was. Many misses of the 
wealthiest families of Salem were day scholars and many came from the neighboring 
towns and some from a distance as boarders. She was the widow of Nathaniel 
Rogers, who had been the master of the Latin Grammar School, and who was a 
native of Ipswich. I judge from what I heard of her, that she was a very cultivated 
lady, of good acquirements, a superior instructor, of great skill and tact in managing 
her school, and of indomitable energy and perseverance, who gained the love and 
respect of her pupils, and who reared a family of four boys to great respectability 
and usefulness." (BF Browne, EIHC 49:206). 

Their mother lived on with Mrs. Mary Boardman, carrying forward her school 
through the years. She died in 1817, by which time her four sons, though still 
young, were among the wealthiest men in town. At the time of her death, Mr. 
Bentley confided to his diary, "Abigail Rogers, the mother, was a Dodge of Ipswich 
& married the eldest son of Rev. N. Rogers. Not succeeding as they wished, they 
came to Salem soon after I was established in the place, and offered themselves for a 
School. For a while he succeeded, but his habits did not admit (of) the success he 
wished & he finally died abroad. The wife had an active mind & the most 
insinuating manners. While she had the hearts of the children, she had as full sway 
over the parents, and (she) connected her success with the welfare of her Sons. In her 
School she did more than any person had done in Salem & her pupils have been the 
best informed & the most approved & the most happy females in Salem. Her four 
sons she introduced into life with great advantage. Nathaniel married one of her 
pupils, a Waite & with a fortune, one of two daughters. John married another pupil, 
a Pickman, granddaughter of Col. Pickman. Her son Richard is engaged to a West, 
and William, educated at Cambridge & at law, has lately gone to India with Richard 
to prepare him(self) for mercantile employments. Mrs. Rogers left her school some 
time before she died, but her health was declining & has been rapidly so since her 
school was closed. The St. Anthony's fire proved at last fatal to her. The general 
opinion is favourable to her talents. Her success in her family produced some envy 
& her school left her the effections of the families interested in it & the necessary 
questions from those who love no happiness but their own." 
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From about 1800 on, Salem was one of the most active and wealthy seaports in 
America. In the late 1790s, there had been agitation in Congress to go to war with 
France, which was at war with England. Pres. John Adams in 1797 sent negotiators 
to France, but they were insulted. In summer, 1798, a quasi-war with France began, 
much to the horror of Salem's Crowninshield family, which had an extensive trade 
with the French, and whose ships and cargoes in French ports were susceptible to 
seizure. The quasi-war brought about a political split within the Salem population. 
Those who favored England aligned themselves with the national Federalist party, 
led by Hamilton and Salem's Timothy Pickering (the U.S. Secretary of State). 
These included most of the merchants, who were eager to go to war with France, and 
opposed Adams' efforts to negotiate. They were led locally by the Derby family. 
Those who favored peace with France (and who admired France for overthrowing 
the monarchy, even while deploring the excesses of the revolutionaries) were the 
Anti-Federalists, who later became aligned with Pres. Jefferson and his Democratic­
Republican party; they were led locally by the Crowninshield family. For the first 
few years of this rivalry, Derby and the Federalists prevailed; but after the death of 
Hasket "King" Derby in 1799 his family's power began to weaken, while it signaled 
the rise of his nephews, the five Crowninshield brothers, all shipmasters-tumed­
merchants in a firm with their father, George Crowninshield. One of the five 
Crowninshields, Benjamin, would marry Mary Boardman, of this house, in 1804. 
He later became a Congressman and Secretary of the Navy. 

In 1800, Adams was successful in negotiating peace with France, and thereupon 
fired Pickering, his oppositional Secretary of State. Salem's F ederalistr' merchants 
erupted in anger, expressed through their newspaper, the Salem Gazette. At the 
same time, Britain began to harass American shipping. As with the French earlier, 
Salem's seafarers added guns to their trading vessels, and the Salem owners and 
masters aggressively expanded their trade to the farthest ports of the rich East, while 
also maintaining their trade with the Caribbean and Europe. Salem cargoes were 
exceedingly valuable, and wealth was piling up in Salem's counting houses. The 
Crowninshields, led by brother Jacob, were especially successful, as their holding 
rose from three vessels in 1800 to twelve in 1803. Nathaniel L. Rogers, of this 
house, was then working as a business manager for the Crowninshields; and he 
would soon become a shipmaster for them. The greatest of the Salem merchants at 
this time was William "Billy" Gray, who owned many vessels. 

In 1800, Salem was still a town, and a small one by our standards, with a total 
population of about 9,500. Its politics were fierce, as the Federalists squared off 
against the Democrats (led by the Crowninshields and comprised of the sailors and 
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fishermen). The two factions attended separate churches, held separate parades, and 
supported separate schools, military companies, and newspapers (the Crowninshield­
backed Impartial Register started in 1800). Salem's merchants resided mainly on 
two streets: Washington (which ended in a wharf on the Inner Harbor, and, above 
Essex, had the Town House in the middle) and Essex (particularly between what are 
now Hawthorne Boulevard and North Streets). The East Parish (Derby Street area) 
was for the seafaring families, shipmasters, sailors, and fishermen. In the 1790s, 
Federal Street, known as New Street, had more empty lots than fine houses. 
Chestnut Street did not exist: its site was a meadow, backlands for the Pickerings on 
Broad Street and the old estates of Essex Street. The Common was not yet 
Washington Square, and was covered with hillocks, small ponds and swamps, and 
utility buildings and the town alms-house. In the later 19th century, Salem's 
commercial prosperity would sweep almost all of the great downtown houses away 
(the brick Joshua Ward house, built 1784, is a notable exception). 

The town's merchants were among the wealthiest in the country, and, in Samuel 
Mcintire, they had a local architect who could help them realize their desires for 
large and beautiful homes in the latest style. While a few of the many new houses 
built in the next ten years went up in the old Essex-Washington Street axis, most 
were erected on or near Washington Square or in the Federalist "west end" 
(Chestnut, Federal, and upper Essex Streets). The architectural style (called 
"Federal" today) had been developed years before in the Adam brothers in England 
and featured fanlight doorways, palladian windows, elongated pilasters and columns, 
and large windows. It was introduced to New England by Charles Bulfinch upon his 
return from England in 1790. The State House in Boston was his first institutional 
composition; and soon Beacon Hill was being built up with handsome residences in 
the Bulfinch manner. 

Samuel Mcintire, carver and housewright, was quick to pick up on the style and 
adapt it to Salem's larger lots. Mcintire's first local composition, the Jerathmeel 
Peirce house (on Federal Street), contrasts greatly with his later Adamesque 
compositions. The interiors of this Adam style differed from the "Georgian" and 
Post-Colonial: in place of walls of wood paneling, there now appeared plastered 
expanses painted in bright colors or covered in bold wallpapers. The Adam style put 
a premium on handsome casings and carvings of central interior features such door­
caps and chimney-pieces (Mclntire's specialty). On the exterior, the Adam style 
included elegant fences; and the houses were often built of brick, with attenuated 
porticoes and, in the high style, string courses, swagged panels, and even two-story 
pilasters. The best example of the new style was the Elias Basket Derby house, co-
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designed by Bulfinch and Mcintire, and built on Essex Street in 1 799 (demolished in 
1815), on the site of today's Town House Square. 

Salem's commerce created great wealth, which in turn attracted many newcomers 
from outlying towns and even other states. A new bank, the Salem Bank, was 
formed in 1803, and the fierce politics and commercial rivalries continued. The 
ferment of the times is captured in the diary of Rev. William Bentley, minister of 
Salem's East Church (it stood on Essex Street, near Washington Square), and editor 
of the Register newspaper. Mr. Bentley's diary is full of references to the civic and 
commercial doings of the town, and to the lives and behaviors of all classes of 
society. On Union Street, not far from Mr. Bentley's church, on the fourth of July, 
1804, was born a boy who would grow up to eclipse all sons of Salem in the eyes of 
the world: Nathaniel Hawthorne, whose father would die of fever while on a voyage 
to the Caribbean in 1808. This kind of untimely death was all too typical of Salem's 
young seafarers, who fell prey to malaria and other diseases of the Caribbean and 
Pacific tropics. Another such loss was Capt. Thomas Williams, who died in August, 
1807-he was the man whom Capt. Boardman had brought to Salem as a little boy, 
and who died at the age of38 years at his home in Hardy Street, having survived two 
of three wives, leaving two children. He had just returned from the West Indies with 
a fever (see Bentley's Death Registry). 

Salem's boom came to an end with a crash in January, 1808, when Jefferson and the 
Congress imposed an embargo on all American shipping in hopes of forestalling war 
with Britain. The Embargo, which was widely opposed in New England, proved 
futile and nearly ruinous in Salem, where commerce ceased. As a hotbed of 
Democratic-Republicanism, Salem's East Parish and its seafarers, led by the 
Crowninshields, loyally supported the Embargo until it was lifted in spring, 1809. 
Shunned by most of the other Salem merchants for his support of the Embargo, the 
eminent Billy Gray took his large fleet of ships-fully one-fourth of Salem's 
tonnage--and moved to Boston, whose commerce was thereby much augmented. 
Gray soon switched from the Federalist party, and was elected Lt. Governor under 
Gov. Elbridge Gerry, a native of Marblehead. Diminished by many vessels and 
much wealth by Gray's removal, Salem resumed its seafaring commerce for three 
years, but still the British preyed on American shipping; and in June, 1812, war was 
declared against Britain. 

Although Salem had opposed the war as being potentially ruinous and primarily for 
the benefit of the southern and western war-hawk states, yet when war came, Salem 
swiftly fitted out 40 privateers manned by Marblehead and Salem crews, who also 
served on U.S. Navy vessels, including the Constitution. Many more could have 
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been sent against the British, but some of the Federalist merchants held their vessels 
back. In addition, Salem fielded companies of infantry and artillery. Salem and 
Marblehead privateers were largely successful in making prizes of British supply 
vessels. While many of the town's men were wounded in engagements, and some 
were killed, the possible riches of privateering kept the men returning to sea as often 
as possible. The first prizes were captured by a 30-ton converted fishing schooner, 
the Fame, and by a 14-ton luxury yacht fitted with one gun, the Jefferson. Of all 
Salem privateers, the Crowninshields' 350-ton ship America was the most 
successful. She captured 30-plus prizes worth more than $1,100,000. 

Salem erected forts and batteries on its Neck, to discourage the British warships that 
cruised these waters. In June, 1813, off Marblehead Neck, the British frigate 
Shannon defeated the U.S. Navy frigate Chesapeake. The Federalists would not 
allow their churches to be used for the funeral of the Chesapeake's slain 
commander, James Lawrence ("Don't give up the ship!"). Almost a year later, in 
April, 1814, the people gathered along the shores of Salem Neck as three sails 
appeared on the horizon and came sailing on for Salem Bay. These vessels proved 
to be the mighty Constitution in the lead, pursued by the smaller British frigates 
Tenedos and Endymion. The breeze was light, and the British vessels gained, but 
Old Ironsides made it safely into Marblehead Harbor, to the cheers of thousands. 

On land, the war went poorly for the United States, as the British captured 
Washington, DC, and burned the Capitol and the White House. Along the western 
frontier, U.S. forces were successful against the weak English forces; and, as 
predicted by many, the western expansionists had their day. At sea, as time wore on, 
Salem's vessels often were captured, and its men imprisoned or killed. After almost 
three years, the war was bleeding the town dry, and the menfolk were disappearing. 
Hundreds of Salem men and boys were in British prison-ships and at Dartmoor 
Prison in England. At the Hartford Convention in 1814, New England Federalist 
delegates met to consider what they could do to bring the war to a close and to 
restore the region's commerce. Sen. Timothy Pickering of Salem led the extreme 
Federalists in proposing a series of demands which, if not met by the federal 
government, could lead to New England's seceding from the United States; but the 
Pickering faction was countered by Harrison G. Otis of Boston and the moderate 
Federalists, who prevailed in sending a moderate message to Congress. 

At last, in February, 1815, peace was restored. 

At that time, this house was the residence of Mrs. Mary Hodges Boardman, who 
would not die until 1828, and of her son Francis Boardman, a shipmaster, and of her 
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daughter Sarah and her husband Zachariah F. Silsbee, whom she had married in 
1810, and by whom she had several children. The other surviving daughter, Mary, 
had married Benjamin W. Crowninshield in 1804; and they lived elsewhere in 
Salem. On 15 Sept. 1817, per Bentley's Book of Deaths, the Silsbees' daughter 
Elizabeth died of atrophy, aged nine months, at their house in "Pleasant Street, 
(opposite the) east gate of Washington Square" (p.156). 

In 1818 large brick houses were being built around Washington Square: The Andrew 
and Forrester houses were going up, and (William) Silsbee was planning one, and, 
according to Bentley, "The Secretary of the Navy (B.W. Crowninshield) talks of 
taking away his father-in-law Boardman's wooden house" (Bentley's Diary, 24 July 
1818). Evidently he was thinking of replacing it with a brick house; obviously, he 
did not. 

Post-war, the Salem merchants rebuilt their fleets and resumed their worldwide 
trade, slowly at first, and then to great effect. A new U.S. Custom House was built 
in 1819, on the site of the George Crowninshield mansion, at the head of Derby 
Wharf. Into the 1820s the foreign trade continued prosperous; and new markets 
were opened with Madagascar (1820), which supplied tallow and ivory, and 
Zanzibar ( 1825), whence came gum copal, used to make varnish. This opened a 
huge and lucrative trade in which Salem dominated, and its vessels thus gained 
access to all of the east African ports. From 1827 to 1870, there were 189 arrivals in 
Salem from Zanzibar, carrying ivory, gum copal, and coffee. 

The pre-war partisan politics of the town were not resumed post-war, as the middle­
class "mechanics" (artisans) became more powerful and brought about civic 
harmony, largely through the Salem Charitable Mechanic Association (founded 
181 7). Salem's general maritime foreign commerce fell off sharply in the late 
1820s. Imports, which were the cargoes in Salem ships, were supplanted by 
American goods, now being produced in great quantities. The interior of the country 
was being opened for settlement, and many Salemites moved away to these new 
lands of opportunity. To the north, the falls of the Merrimack River powered large 
new textile mills (Lowell was founded in 1823 ), which created great wealth for their 
investors; and in general it seemed that the tide of opportunity was ebbing away 
from Salem. In an ingenious attempt to stem the flow of talent from the town and to 
harness its potential water power for manufacturing, Salem's merchants and 
capitalists banded together in 1826 to raise the money to dam the North River for 
industrial power. The project, which began with much promise, was suspended 
(before construction began) in 1827, which demoralized the town even more, and 
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caused several leading citizens to move to Boston, the hub of investment in the new 
economy. 

Mrs. Mary Hodges Boardman died in 1828, aged 76 years. On 1 October 1828, an 
inventory was made of her estate (appended to this report). The inventory listed a 
modest number of furnishings (she probably occupied tow or three rooms), and her 
investments, which were very valuable and included her husband's five shares in the 
Essex Bridge (worth $1800). The other investments were in two insurance 
companies, three banks, a mortgage, and U.S. Treasury notes. The total value of her 
estate was $16,419.85. 

In 1830 occurred a horrifying crime that brought disgrace to Salem. Old Capt. 
Joseph White, a wealthy merchant, resided in the house now called the Gardner­
Pingree house, on Essex Street. One night, intruders broke into his mansion and 
stabbed him to death. All of Salem buzzed with the news of murderous thugs; but 
the killers, as it happened, were members of Salem's elite class and relatives of the 
victim. A Crowninshield committed suicide, and two Knapps were hanged. The 
results of the investigation and trial were very damaging, and more of the 
respectable families quit the infamous town of Salem. 

Salem's remaining merchants had to move quickly to take their equity out of 
wharves and warehouses and ships and put it into manufacturing and transportation, 
as the advent of railroads and canals in the 1830s diverted both capital and trade 
away from the coast. Some merchants did not make the transition, and were ruined. 
Old-line areas of work, like rope-making, sail-making, and ship chandleries, 
gradually declined and disappeared. Through the late 1820s and well into the 1830s, 
Salem slumped badly. 

On 10 March 1832 for $3700 Zachariah F. Silsbee, Salem merchant, purchased from 
his in-laws, Mrs. Benjamin W. (Mary) Crowninshield and Francis Boardman, their 
interest in the Boardman homestead. 

Zachariah Fowle Silsbee (1783-1873) was a member of a prominent East Parish 
family (see appended material). His older brother, Nathaniel, eventually became a 
U.S. Senator. Zachariah was born on Daniels Street, and was bred to the sea, rising 
to the position of shipmaster at a young age. He sailed around the world several 
times. On one of those voyages, he nearly lost his life, as recounted by Capt. George 
Nichols many years later in his autobiography: "During my stay at Manila, I had 
occasion one day to go to my ship for money, and Mr. Zach Silsbee, who was there 
at that time, wishing to visit his vessel, we took a boat with two men to row us. Our 
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passage to Cavete was a pleasant one, but while there it commenced raining, and the 
weather looked very threatening. Notwithstanding this, we ventured out again in our 
little boat to return to Manila. It soon began to blow very hard, and there was every 
appearance of a gale, but go on we must now, for the wind would not allow us to 
return. The wind increased rapidly, and our situation soon became very alarming. 
Moreover, we had got to cross a bar, which in pleasant weather was considered 
dangerous to pass in such a boat as ours was. Our only hope now was in keeping as 
calm and collected as possible. Observing that Mr. Silsbee looked pale and anxious, 
I said to him in as cheerful a tone as I could command, "We have shipped for this 
voyage, and we must go through with it." We drew near the bar, the sea ran so very 
high that it seemed impossible for us to cross it. By-and-by the sea dashed over us, 
filling our boat more than half full of water. Fortunately for us, when in our vessel, 
we had exchanged our common hats for leather ones; but for that we must have 
inevitably been drowned, for with these we bailed out the water, and soon cleared 
the boat. We had rowed but a short distance when we again shipped a tremendous 
sea. "Off hats and bail away," I cried out. Again and again while crossing the bar 
was our boat filled nearly to sinking, and when finally we succeeded in getting into 
comparatively smooth water our boat was nearly balanced and our men, mulattoes, 
were white with fear. Our escape was indeed almost miraculous, for I afterwards saw 
a boat ten times the size of ours, swamped in crossing this bar, and many lives were 
lost." 

By the 1830s Z.F. Silsbee was long retired from the sea, and was working as a 
merchant in the firm of Stone, Silsbees, and Pickman, and as president of the Salem 
Savings Bank and as director of another bank and of a New Hampshire 
manufacturing company. Between 1811and1826 he and his wife Sarah Boardman 
had 11 children, of whom four died young. 

Despite setbacks and uncertainties, Salem was chartered as a city in 1836. City Hall 
was built 1837-8 and the city seal was adopted with an already-anachronistic Latin 
motto of "to the farthest port of the rich East"-a far cry from "Go West, young 
man!" The Panic of 1837, a brief, sharp, nationwide economic depression, caused 
even more Salem families to head west in search of fortune and a better future. 
Salem had not prepared for the industrial age, and had few natural advantages. The 
North River served not to power factories but mainly to flush the waste from the 
many tanneries (23 by 1832) that had set up along its banks. Throughout the 1830s, 
the leaders of Salem scrambled to re-invent an economy for their fellow citizens, 
many of whom were mariners without much sea-faring to do. Ingenuity, ambition, 
and hard work would have to carry the day. 
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One inspiration was the Salem Laboratory, Salem's first science-based 
manufacturing enterprise, founded in 1813 to produce chemicals. At the plant built 
in 1818 in North Salem on the North River, the production of alum and blue vitriol 
was a specialty; and it proved a very successful business. Salem's whale-fishery, 
active for many years in the early 1800s, led, in the 1830s, to the manufacturing of 
high-quality candles at Stage Point, along with machine oils. The candles proved 
very popular. Lead-manufacturing began in the 1820s, and grew large after 1830, 
when Wyman's gristmills on the Forest River were retooled for making high-quality 
white lead and sheet lead (the approach to Marblehead is still called Lead Mills Hill, 
although the empty mill buildings burned down in 1960s ). 

These enterprises were a start toward taking Salem in a new direction. In 183 8 the 
Eastern Rail Road began operating between Boston and Salem, which gave the 
people of Salem and environs a direct route to the region's largest market. The new 
railroad tracks ran right over the middle of the Mill Pond; the tunnel under 
Washington Street was built in 1839; and the line was extended to Newburyport in 
1840. 

In the 1840s, new companies in new lines of business arose in Salem. The tanning 
and curing of leather was a very important industry by the mid-1800s. It was 
conducted on and near Boston Street, along the upper North River. There were 41 
tanneries in 1844, and 85 in 1850, employing 550 hands. The leather business 
would continue to grow in importance throughout the 1800s. In 1846 the Naumkeag 
Steam Cotton Company completed the construction at Stage Point of the largest 
factory building in the United States, 60' wide by 400' long. It was an immediate 
success, and hundreds of people found employment there, many of them living in 
industrial tenements built nearby. Also in the 1840s, a new method was introduced 
to make possible high-volume industrial shoe production. In Lynn, the factory 
system was perfected, and that city became the nation's leading shoe producer. 
Salem had shoe factories too, and attracted shoe workers from outlying towns and 
country areas. Even the population changed, as hundreds of Irish families, fleeing 
the Famine, settled in Salem; and the men went to work in the factories and as 
laborers. 

In the face of all this change, some members of Salem's waning merchant class 
continued to pursue their sea-borne businesses; but even the conditions of shipping 
changed, and Salem was left on the ebb tide. In the late 1840s, giant clipper ships 
replaced the smaller vessels that Salem men had sailed around the world; and the 
clippers, with their deep drafts and large holds, were usually too large for Salem and 
its harbor. The town's shipping soon consisted of little more than Zanzibar-trade 
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vessels and visits from Down East coasters with cargoes of fuel wood and building 
timber. By 1850 Salem was about finished as a working port. A picture of Salem's 
sleepy waterfront is given by Hawthorne in his "introductory section" (really a 
sketch of Salem) to The Scarlet Letter, which he began while working in the 
Custom House. 

The symbol of Salem's new industrial economy was the large twin-towered granite 
train station, built in 1848-9 on filled-in land at the foot of Washington Street, where 
before had been the merchants' wharves. The 1850s brought continued growth: new 
churches, schools, streets, stores, etc. Catholic churches were built, and new 
housing was constructed in North Salem and the Gallows Hill areas to accommodate 
the workers. In March, 1853, several streets were re-named and re-numbered, 
including the consolidation of County, Marlboro, and Federal Streets as Federal 
Street. 

The Civil War began in April, 1861, and went on for four years, during which 
hundreds of Salem men served in the army and navy, and many were killed or died 
of disease or abusive treatment while imprisoned. Hundreds more suffered wounds, 
or broken health. The people of Salem contributed greatly to efforts to alleviate the 
suffering of the soldiers, sailors, and their families; and there was great celebration 
when the war finally ended in the spring of 1865. 

Through the 1860s and 1870s, Salem continued to pursue a manufacturing course. 
The managers and capitalists tended to build their new, grand houses along 
Lafayette Street (these houses may still be seen, south of Roslyn Street). For the 
workers, they built more and more tenements near the mills of Stage Point. A 
second, larger, factory building for the Naumkeag Steam Cotton Company would be 
added in 1859, and a third in 1865; and by 1879 the mills would employ 1200 
people and produce annually 14, 700,000 yards of cloth. Shoe-manufacturing also 
continued to expand, and by 1880 Salem would have 40 shoe factories employing 
600-plus operatives. More factories and more people required more space for 
buildings, more roads, and more storage areas. 

After withstanding the pressures of the new industrial city for about 50 years, 
Salem's rivers began to disappear. The once-broad North River was filled from both 
shores, and became a canal along Bridge Street above the North Bridge. The large 
and beautiful Mill Pond, which occupied the whole area between the present 
Jefferson Avenue, Canal Street, and Loring Avenue, finally vanished beneath streets, 
storage areas, junk-yards, rail-yards, and parking lots. The South River, too, with its 
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epicenter at Central Street (that's why there was a Custom House built there in 1805) 
disappeared under the pavement of Riley Plaza and New Derby Street, and its old 
wharves (even the mighty Union Wharf, formerly Long Wharf, at the foot of Union 
Street) were joined together with much in-fill and turned into coal-yards and lumber­
yards. Only a canal was left, running in from Derby and Central Wharves to 
Lafayette Street. 

In 1873, at the age of 90 years, Zachariah F. Silsbee died. He had owned the 
premises here for more than 40 years, and resided here for perhaps 60 years. 

In April and October, 1874, for more than $13,100, the Silsbee heirs sold the 
homestead to Jonathan Tucker of Salem (ED 914 :222-223 ), who at that time held a 
position at the Custom House and resided at 29 Andrew Street. This house was then 
numbered 11 Pleasant Street, and its lot was bounded westerly by Pleasant Street, 
northerly by land now/late of Brown, easterly by the waters of Collins Cove, and 
southerly by a creek and by Forrester Street, again westerly by land of Gillis, and 
again southerly land formerly of Townsend. At that time there was no Boardman 
Street and no Webb Street, both of which were laid out by 1877, when the new 
owner, Mr. Tucker, sold off some of the land he had bought from the Silsbees in 
1874 (see ED 971:205 for example). 

Jonathan Tucker (1799-1877), born January, 1799, Salem, son of Andrew Tucker 
& Martha Mansfield, died 31July1877, Salem (Harmony Grove cemetery). Hem. 
Mary Packard, born in Maine 27 Oct. 1810. Known issue: 

1. William P., 1834 (Me.) 
2. Joseph F., 1835 (Me.) 
3. James Thornton, bp 1840 (Salem VR) 
4. Horace, bp 1842 (SVR) 
5. Mary Frances, 1844, bp 1846 (SVR) 
6. Sarah Packard, 1846, bp 1846 d/o Jonathan T., trader (SVR) 

By 1860 Jonathan was working as a Measurer at the Custom House. In the 1860s he 
became an owner of the Central Building on Central Street, and then sold half of it 
to his son James T. Tucker, who had moved to New Orleans. In 1872 he was still at 
the Custom House, residing at 29 Andrew Street. He purchased this house in 1874, 
and moved in. To the Salem Gazette in 1875-6 he contributed an interesting series 
called "Our Old Houses," in which he jotted down his memories of who had 
inhabited the buildings of Essex Street 1807-1810. By 1876 he was working as an 
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assessor at City Hall, house 11 Pleasant Street. On the last day of July, 1877, Mr. 
Tucker took his own life. 

The obituary of Mr. Tucker ran in the Gazette on 3 August 1877. "The death of 
Jonathan Tucker, which took place very suddenly on Tuesday morning last, takes 
from amongst us one of our most respected citizens, who, although having reached 
the great age of almost fourscore, still presented the appearance of vigor and promise 
of usefulness for years to come. Descended from a line of long-lived ancestors, his 
frame and structure were such as to the scientific eye promised great length of days, 
rivalling those of the nonagenarians of his family predecessors. His character was as 
sturdy as his frame. Upright, conscientious, clear-headed, and intelligent, his 
services on the board of our City Assessors were never surpassed in value by any 
who have been called to the office. His independence and plainness of speech 
undoubtedly made him enemies; but, as an honest man, a good citizen, exemplary in 
purity of morals and in every relation of life, he will be held in respectful 
remembrance by all who knew him. Mr. Tucker retired from active mercantile 
business in 1849, when he was elected one of the Assessors of the City. This office 
he continued to hold until March 28, 1853. He was again elected Assessor in 1869, 
and held the office until January 11, 1875, when he retired to private life. During 
most of his term of service, he was chairman of the board; and there never was a 
man who paid more strict, scrupulous, and faithful attention to the duties of his 
office. A native of Salem, and blessed with powers of keen observation and a 
retentive memory, his knowledge of our local history of the present century-of 
persons, events, metes and bounds-was unequalled, and nothing gave him greater 
pleasure than to impart from his inexhaustible stores. He leaves a widow (a sister of 
Pro£ Alpheus Packard of Bowdoin College), three sons-Joseph F. and H~race, 
both holding responsible positions in the Illinois Central Railroad Company, and 
Rev. William P., who has recently accepted a call to a rectorship in Pawtucket, R.I.; 
and two daughters, Mrs. J. M. Hagar of Salem, and Mrs. Hanson of Chicago. Two 
sons, Alpheus Packard and Col. James T., died before their father." 

The homestead was sold to John Kinsman; and on 27 Feb. 1880 John Kinsman (wife 
Martha), of Salem, for $10,000 sold the premises to Lucy H. Bowdoin, Salem 
widow (ED 1032:214). 

Mrs. Bowdoin evidently added the second-story bay over the frontispiece, removed 
the side entry porch, and made other alterations to the house built for Capt. 
Boardman. 
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Mrs. Bowdoin had married, first, Abel J. Proctor of Peabody, by whom she had a 
son, Abel H. Proctor, born in 1858. They had resided in Salem, and young Abel 
attended Salem schools. Evidently Mr. A.J. Proctor died in the 1860s; and Mrs. 
Proctor married, second, a dentist, Dr. Willard L. Bowdoin, who resided at 57 
Washington Street in 1855 with offices at 208 Essex Street. He too died, by 1872; 
and his widow and step-son Abel Proctor resided on Federal Street afterwards. 

After high school, Abel Proctor entered the leather business run by his uncle Thomas 
E. Proctor, and worked with him for many years. After the uncle's death, Abel 
became a full-time trustee of his family's estates. Abel H. Proctor did not marry. 
He was a member of the Algonquin Club and the Salem Club, and of the Boston 
Athletic Assoc., and had a large summer place at Rangeley, Maine. He was a 
director of the Boston Safe Deposit & Trust Co. and was prominent in the Boston 
real estate exchange. He died here at home in March, 1913, after an attack of 
pneumonia that began on Feb. 22. He was survived by his mother, Mrs. Lucy 
Bowdoin. (see Salem News, issue of 13 March 1913) 

Salem had kept building infrastructure; and new businesses arose, and established 
businesses expanded. Retail stores prospered, and machinists, carpenters, 
millwrights, and other specialists all thrived. In the 1870s, French-Canadian 
families began coming to work in Salem's mills and factories, and more houses and 
tenements filled were built in what had been open areas of the city. The Canadians 
were followed in the early 20th century by large numbers of Polish and Ukrainian 
families, who settled primarily in the Derby Street neighborhood. By the eve of 
World War One, Salem was a bustling, polyglot city that supported large department 
stores and large factories of every description. Its politics were lively, and its 
economy was strong. 

On June 25, 1914, in the morning, in Blubber Hollow (Boston Street opposite 
Federal), a fire started in one of Salem's fire-prone wooden tanneries. This fire soon 
consumed the building and raced out of control, for the west wind was high and the 
season had been dry. The next building caught fire, and the next, and out of Blubber 
Hollow the fire roared easterly, a monstrous front of flame and smoke, wiping out 
the houses of Boston Street, Essex Street, and upper Broad Street, and then sweeping 
through Hathorne, Winthrop, Endicott, and other residential streets. Men and 
machines could not stop it: the enormous fire crossed over into South Salem and 
destroyed the neighborhoods west of Lafayette Street, then devoured the mansions 
of Lafayette Street itself, and raged onward into the tenement district. Despite the 
combined efforts of heroic fire crews from many towns and cities, the fire 
overwhelmed everything in its path: it smashed into the large factory buildings of 
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the Naumkeag Steam Cotton Company (Congress Street), which exploded in an 
inferno; and it rolled down Lafayette Street and across the water to Derby Street. 
There, just beyond Union Street, after a 13-hour rampage, the monster died, having 
consumed 250 acres, 1600 houses, and 41 factories, and leaving three dead and 
thousands homeless. Some people had insurance, some did not; all received much 
support and generous donations from all over the country and the world. It was one 
of the greatest urban disasters in the history of the United States, and the people of 
Salem would take years to recover from it. Eventually, they did, and many of the 
former houses and businesses were rebuilt; and several urban-renewal projects 
(including Hawthorne Boulevard, which involved removing old houses and 
widening old streets) were put into effect. 

Mrs. Bowdoin died, and on 1 August 1921 the administrator of her estate for 
$16,000 sold the homestead to Grace E. Finnegan of Salem (ED 2490:87). 

By the 1920s, Salem was once again a thriving city; and its tercentenary in 1926 was 
a time of great celebration. From that time forward, Salem boomed right through to 
the 1960s, but the arrival of suburban shopping malls and the relocation of 
manufacturing businesses took their toll, as they have with many other cities. More 
than most, Salem has navigated its way forward into the present with success, 
trading on its share of notoriety arising from the witch trials, but also from its history 
as a great seaport and as the home of Bowditch, Mcintire, Bentley, Story, and 
Hawthorne. Most of all, it remains a city where the homes of the old-time 
merchants, mariners, and mill-operatives are all honored as a large part of what 
makes Salem different from any other place. 

--30 Oct. 2001, Robert Booth for Historic Salem Inc. 
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Glossary & Sources 

A figure like (ED 123:45) refers to book 123, page 45, Essex South registry of Deeds, 
Federal Street, Salem. 

A figure like (#12345) refers to Essex Probate case 12345, on file at the Essex Probate 
Court, Federal Street, Salem, or on microfilm at Mass. Archives, Boston, or at the 
Peabody Essex Museum's Phillips Library, Salem. 

Census records (censes were taken every 10 years from 1790 on, and in 1855 and 1865) 
are available on microfilm; they list the heads of households 1790-1840, and then list 
family members from 1850 on. 

MSSRW refers to the multi-volume compendium, Mass. Soldiers & Sailors in the 
Revolutionary War, available at the Salem Public Library among other places. 

MSSCRW refers to the multi-volume compendium, Mass. Soldiers, Sailors, & Marines in 
the Civil War, available at the Salem Public Library among other places. 

EIHC refers to the Essex Institute Historical Collections (discontinued), a multi-volume 
set (first volume published in 1859) of data and articles about Essex County. The indices 
of the EIHC have been consulted regarding many of the people associated with this 
house. 

The six-volume published Salem Vital records (marriages, births, and deaths through 
1849) have been consulted, as have the Salem Directory and later Naumkeag Directory, 
which have information about residents and their addresses, etc. 

Sidney Perley's three-volume History of Salem, 1626-1716 has been consulted, as has the 
four-volume William Bentley's Diary, J. Duncan Phillips' books, some newspaper 
obituaries, and other sources. 

Salem real estate valuations, and, where applicable, Salem Street Books, have also been 
consulted, as have genealogies. 

There is much more material available about Salem and its history; and the reader is 
encouraged to make his or her own discoveries. 

--Robert Booth 
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